ANZA'S
1779 COMANCHE CAMPAIGN

Juan Bautista de Anza, at the Age of 44, led his New
Mexican Spaniards against the Comanche Cuerno
Verde, and changed forever the history of this region.

*Quote per Phil Carson, freelance writer, as printed 10-3-93 in
Pueblo Chieftain.
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PURPOSE

‘This booklet's intent is to recognize Anza's many accomplishments during and
after his 1779 campaign.

‘The route that Anza used from Santa Fe to Saguache was a wellworn Indian
trail that became known as the West fork of the North branch of the Old
Spanish Trail, with the exception of a few variations. That is pointed out in
this booklet by the author and may differ somewhat from other historians'
beliefs.

Anza was a compassionate man who helped create housing and education in
farming for the native Americans who had been caught up in the fervor of
Cuerno Verde. He did this ven though his own faher had been killed b e
Apaches.

‘The impact of Anza's success cannot be measured....it was lrgely responsible
for the Colorado-New Mexico territories becoming safe for immigrant travel
o i i i

ce.
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About The Author

Ron Kessler; born in 1943 in Monte Vista, Colorado, to Ernest and Lola
Kessler, was on horseback as early as he could walk. His home having
been a mile or so from the Old Spanish Trail, i colsbreaking rides often
had him crossing the trail, beholding the 1858 ANO rock which now rests
in the Rio Grande County Museum, all of hich whestad e ieress
local history.

Ron's early interests were in wrestling, rodeo, hunting and fishing. Voca-
tions included mechanical, electrical, horse and cattle ranching with
horseshoeing on the side. Indulging his absorption in historical research

came
n 1589 e ‘helped found the San Luis Valley Harness and Saddle Club.
Married to Franits Firkins in 1964, he ard his wife have three children
(Ron, Jr, Debbi ). Ron
e Vista H(gh Sciool and
attendance at Southern Colorado State College, Pueblo. A prolific lecturer
on such diverse subjects as The Old Spanish Trail, Fremont's Fourth Expe-
dition, Draft Horses and Anza's 1779 Campaign, his schedule included
Jour 1993 engagements with another four thus far on the 1994 calendar.

Introduction

My interest in the diary of Don Juan Bautista de Anza was the result of long

tudy ofthe Old Spanish Trail and istravelers. This was n addion to living

near and traveling ‘myself. The San Lorenzo campsite is a southwest
view theough Tas sy

wife Franis and I explored and photographed the de Anza route from

S e siaring August 15, 1993, 2 Sunday exactly 214 years afer the

Governor's trip began in 1
First seeing in 1960 the hnsxonc 1858 ANO Rock inspired me to inquire
aLuis Valley ch Marie Colville and Patricia
my aention to the R nza Diary.

Richmond and dire

; my wish is
s persor na!ly afer 1 get 4 copy from the Sville Archives. Descrip,
Hons of i San v Valley route are fairly accurate but the front range-cited
locations appear to be only approximate.

S y el
of campsites and highways which are referenced in the Blbllography My
questions and those of others may lead to other and articles on "The
Old Spanish Trail and The Travelers Who Used It."

May all your trails be pleasant ones. Happy reading.

Ron Kessler

JUAN BAUTISTA de ANZA

Diario de la expedicion que sale a practicar contra la nacion
cumancha el infraescripto teniente coronel, Don Juan Bautista
de Anza, Governador y Comandante de la Provincia de Nuevo
Mexico con la tropa, milicianos e Indios.

AS
TRANSLATED BY ALFRED B. THOMAS

EXPOUNDED UPON
BY

RONALD E. KESSLER




BIOGRAPHY

Don Juan Bautista de Anza was born in the town of Fronteras, Sonor,
Mexico, in the year of 1735. Anza's fath ker of

On December 19, 1788, Governor Anza died in Arispe, Sonora, and was
buried in the church of Nuestra Senora de la Asuncion. In 1963 the church
needed a new floor. At that time, Anza's remains were dug up and reburied
in a marble sarcophagus. A celebration was held in honor of Anza's many

the Jesuits. It is from these people that the o s gl
his education. This training must be credited for Anza's learning to keep an
excellent diary.

in 1752, tion when
he volunteered for military service. His grandfather had served for thirty
years on the Northern Frontier of New Spain. Anza's father served both as
Captain at Fronteras and as temporary Governor of Sonora. By the year 1755
the young Anza had achieved the rank of Lieutenant.

In 1758 Anza campaigned against the Apaches at the Gila River. A year
Iater Captain Anza became the Commander of the Presidio of Tubac. In 1766
he again campaigned against Apaches, and during 17681771 he played a
brilliant part in Elizondo's conquest of Sonora.

On January 8, 1774, Anza set out at the head of thirty-four men to explore
2 route to San Francisco, California. In November 1774 he was promoted to
the rank of Lieutenant Colonel. On September 29, 1775, Anza led forth from
Sonora an expedition of two hundred and forty people to establish San Fran-
cisco. He arrived on March 10, 1776, with 242 people, a proud accomplish-
ment. One woman had died along the way, but three babies were born on
the trip. This thatit nearly a hundred
head of livestock from hardship along the way. Anza's journey t0 and from
California covered more than two thousand miles. To go to Mexico City to
report his work to the Viceroy and return to his post involved a horseback.
trek of an additional three thousand miles for a total of five thousand miles
on horseback.

In 1777 Anza
but he didn't reach Santa Fe until lae in 1778, He took census of the prov.

the pucblos
or plazas containing at least twenty families. Each small plaza contained two
bastions to give the guns better range. Taos was fortificd with four bastions
as were all of the larger plazas so that they could be more easily defended. He
then ordered the Miera y Pacheco map prej lans to cam-
paign against the Comanches who had been continually raiding the Spanish
settlements.

After successfully dealing with the Indian problems of New Mexico, Anza
furnished labor and materials to establish a pueblo on the Arkansas River.
The pueblo was built for the Jupe Comanches who had become friendly
‘with the Spanish. Governor Anza left New Mexico in November and arrived
in Sonora in the spring of 1788. There he became Provisional Commander of
the armed forces of that province and captain of the Presidio of Tucson.

and a plaque was placed upon his tomb for all who would
visit to scc. The church also received a tile floor instead of the oak floor
originally planned.

Licutenant Colonel, Gover-
nor and Commander of New Mexico is setting out to effect against the
Comanche nation, with the troop, militia and Indians listed as follows:

STATE OF TROOP MILITIA AND INDIANS
MENTIONED ABOVE

als|c|p|E|F|C u‘ LR L
Veteran Troop 1 13| 8]1f1|ss 103
|
Idem of Santa Fe |
Militia 1 ]33 37| 6|49
Idem of Villa of
1[1]2 4 103| 96 |246
|
Idem of the
Alealdia of
Las Queres 1 16 [ 149 | 156
Tdem of San Carlos| 1 20| 8|3
Total s 1| 1 |85 |203[259 600

A, Captains; B, Lieutenants; C, Ensigns; D, Chaplain; E, Sergeant
F, Militia Sergeants; G, Cadet; H, Drummer; 1, Soldier;, J, Mili
K, Indians; L, Totals.
Even though totals don't add up, nl:gerl!mllya:te[ﬁr!dbyhlstorlamIhar
Juan Bautista de Anzas troops numbered G00.

Ron Kessler




ANZA DIARY

15 August 1779 Sunday at three o'clock in the afternoon the march was
begun, route to the north on which six leagues were covered on the Camino
Real. Halt was made to pass the night in the vicinity of the Pucblo of Pujuaque.

*Anza left Santa Fe at 3:00 p.m. He and his party traveled from Santa
Fe, New Mexico, north on the Camino Real (this follows very closely
Highway 285) to the vicinity of the pueblo of Pujuaque, where they
camped for the night. The present day spelling of this town is
Pojuaque, but the pueblo is one of the 61 pueblos that have not sur-
vived from the time of Ofiate, although there is now a town there
that name. (In 1598 Ofiate counted 80 Indian pueblos in what is now
New Mexico.

Why did they clloose 1o leave at 3:00 p.m.? That seems 1 be an un-
, especially with ‘many head of
lmnes, not to ml:ntlon the vast amount of food, amm\milkm, ete. So

why didn't they carly start as seems to be de Anza's habit
Tiroughiout the days which Sollow?

Although s which precede thi are not
explained in Anza's di:

alieady been made. Anza e obviously been awaiting some slgnx.l
t0 begin the march. Taos had been warned byApuhA: scoutssixdays
prior to th plans
t0 raid the Spanish settlements again. (This is mentioned on 7 Sep.
tember of Anza's diary.) Thus, there was no time to waste when they
became aware that the Comanches were on the move.

16 August 1779 Monday At half-past six in the morning we continued our
march on the road, route north, one-quarter to the northwest. On this six
leagues were traveled, in the wood of San Juan de los Caballeros. Camped.

This place I
Accordingly, dall of this day. iew I found
the troops provided with three horses to each soldier with arms, munitions
of war, and food supplies more than enough for forty days. This was not the
case with the settlers and Indians. Because of their well known poverty and
wretchedness, the best cquipped presented themselves with two riding
beasts, the most of them almost useless; their guns were the same, very few
of them having three charges of powder; in everything else the proportion

;

Plnce I Tiwas gt ¢ .
les Curmancs ol e Covcrel 1
supstaane de s Pocormom. el e M

Bvcais e wermie noas oa Cruse £ N
s Poonin nseraies

Comenche Counry nonth of New Mexio per Mieca y acheco 1779 map.
urtesy of the New Mexico State Records and Archives Center




was similar. In view of this, I supplied the most needy, each with a horse
from the two hundred that I have extra in the herd at the presidio and all of
them with firearms with ten ball cartridge belts.

rovided for the best the people making up
lhe expediion, by k‘ormmg S el e dwmons which can be of

ge
Iappointed. The b understood their position which I also indicated
for any aifray a0 forthe entire march. The fe wa the vanguard under my
command; the second, the rear lieutenant;

was pitched for the night, having reached the end of the Camino Real that
we have been following.

The above mentioned pueblo is one of those abandoned on account of the
hostilities of the enemy, as well as one proposed for the establishment of a
presidio. For this reason I devoted myself today surveying it. 1 found it lack-
ing all the conditions and advantages required for such an establishment.
Those who have left it can only make this [sclection] possible. Almgelher
they arc twenty-five or thirty o

under command of the second licutenant, the center between the two afore-
said and the reserve co

At the end of the afternoon [ it two scouts in advance to reconnoiter the

enem hould
find no indication or other development 50t o retuen untl the 20th.

It will not be out of place to note here that I am directing the present expe-
dition along 4 route and through regions different from those which have
been followed previously. Thus I shall not suffer what has always happened
50 often, that is to be discovered long before reaching the country in which
the enemy lives, as they inform me this is very common and is the reason for
the failure of most of the campaigns, and 5o that I may be able to gain the

rder or boundary of the country indicated for the best success of the un-
dertaking

“Governor Anza led his troops of militia, Indians, and settlers to San
Juan de los Caballeros, still following along present day Highway
285. This settlement was established in 1598 by Don Juan de Ofate
and was the first permanent settlement in what is now the State of
New Mexico. Extra horses were picked up here from de Anza's
presidio, which brought the total to about 1800 head.

those followed previously. All earlier expeditions from Santa Fc in
rough Pecos

over the Taos Mountains. Then they proceeded north to the g
sas River in present-day southern Colorado. (Even though the route
of this expedition was altered, de Anza's remarks on August 23 and
again on August 27 indicated that not all of this route was entirely
virgin.)

17 August 1779 Tuesday At a liule after six we proceeded along the same
road, the Rio del Norte crossed, route to the north-northwest. On this seven
7 : b of Ojo Caliente, P

unfor is not
attacks, as this disorder brought upon them the loss of their poor ficlds to
‘which in substance the possessions of the inhabitants were reduce

“The expedition pressed on from San Juan Pueblo to Ojo Caliente,
which was the end of the Camino Real, still following Highway 285.
The survivors of this settlement had suffered from repeated Indian
attacks and had deserted their farms and homes. Anza had been en-
deavoring o get all of the Spanish settlers in sparsely populated ar-
€as to join forces and to fortify themselves against attack. Thus far
he had notbeen

plained to the Viceroy, and some of them had moved back to v

comply.

18 August 1779 Wednesday At seven o'clock we sct out again on our way
with the route to the north through terrain considerably broken. Through
this eight leagues were made up to the Rio de las Nutrias where the journey
ended.

“This day's journey took leave of Highway 285. This was to avoid the
"La Cafada de los Comanches" (Comanche Canyon) which the

1os Nutrias on his mzp) and followed closely to today’s road 111.

19 August 1779 Thursday A liule before seven we pushed on toward the
north. On this we of
the preceding day as far as the Rio de San Antonito where we stopped to
pass the night.

*Several miles were traveled to the north through the mountainous
country along the Tusas Ridge between the Tusas and the San Anto-
nio rivers.

20 August 1779 Friday On this day frost and cold as though it were the
days appropriate to this weather. At halfpast six we resumed our march




toward the north through broken terrain which lasted as far as the Rio de los
Conejos. To this seven leagues were made with which the day's journey
ended.

‘Today the scouts mentioned on the 16th returned to me. They had found no
other sign of the enemy than the trail in this very place of the last ones who.
encroached on our territory.

At the end of the afternoon two hundred men of the Ute and Apache nation
also joined me with one of their principal captains. Of the first were those
who ever since my assumption of this government have asked me, and who
have reiterated incessantly with prayers that they be admitted into my com-
pany in confirmation of our friendship, provided I should go on a campaign
against the Comanches. 1agreed to grant this to them, as much to take ad-
vantage of thi f in this way to civili 50 that
they may at least be more seful to us against the enemy itself than they have
been formerly.

With this intent I indicated that they must be at my orders as to what of
spoils belonged to them in case of encounters and defeats of the ‘enemy.
This, with the exception of personal captures, they would have to agree to
divide equally with all my men. o these proposals they consented, promis-
ing to observe them.

*On this day the troops were joined near the present day settlement
of Ortiz (on the present day Rio de Los Pino) by 200 Apache and Ute

ians who also wished for revenge against the Comanche. Anza
did not say that the new troops held him back, so they apparently
were adequately supplied with horses, food and ammunition. This

y
Again several miles were covered, which took the horse soldiers to
the Concjos River. This river (on the Miera y Pacheco map that de
Anza used) was in New Mexico. On modern maps it is in Colorado.
‘This is a puzzling fact.

21 August 1779 Saturday At six we again returned to our route to the
h. throug!

th many , among which after
two leagues, the Rio del

3 5 8
added until Las Jaras was reached where the day's journey ended.

“The arduous excursion of this day took de Anza and his men to the
Conejos River and then to La Jara Creek (Sec24, T35N, R7E) where
they camped for the night and the next day. Their route took them
west of San Antonio Mountain, between Los Mogotes and present
day Antonito through the Poso to La Jara Creek. From this point de

Pl
one-half mile west of the present day town of Centro.

22 August 1779 Sunday 1t was necessary to make the next march at night
50 that the ight not ur h =
the sierra, not very distant, which we arc keeping on our right. For that
reason the march of this day was reserved for the night.

At sunset the journey was taken up with route to the north and after a league
was made in that direction, the Rio de las Timbres was crossed; beyond that
another six leagues were made in the same direction, upon which the Rio de
San Lorenzo was reached at two in the morning.

“It is obvious why de Anza was forced to travel at night through the
san Luis Valley. Although there is a fifty mile span between the San
Juan Mountains on the west and the Sangre de Cristo Range on the
‘east side, the lucid visibility belies that distance.

they Jara Creek had
ence since 1000 A.D. or earlier. It later became known as ?-Ole
‘Spanish Trail,
ol:x ‘his nocturnal march. There is no mention of moonlight guidi?;
deA

nza
trail must have been quite well marked. This trail is approximately
one-half mile west of Highway 15 along the foothills of the San Juan
Mountains.

fol-
Upon leaving La Jara Creek at sundown, de Anza and his men
lowed the trail three miles to the present day Alamosa River. From
there they marched another eighteen miles to Rock Creek (Sec29,
T38N, R7E) where they spent the following day. What a welcome
sight that good grass must have been to those many horses! And the

Y pen.

23 August 1779 Monday At nightfall we again held our course toward the
‘north in which direction we traveled four leagues through fairly good coun-
try. At the end of this march we inclined toward the north-northwest for
two more leagues upon which the march ended at the Rio del Norte where
the ford was named El Paso de San Bartolome.

is a problem with the diary at this point in that the distances
'"‘n“ work out, unless de Anza would have traveled from the camp
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river which falls in line with his later travels. (This camp is located
in Sec36, T4ON, RGE, the east end of the Off Ranch.) This is a perfect
place for de Anza to have camped, having a channel of the river to
the south and to the north which would have helped to contain the
2400 head of horses. There would have been many large old cotton-
wood

tion the good grass that there must have been at this camp.

Thi La Del

in 1861 and is the same that was used by John Lawrence in 1867.
‘who still hi , tells a story

about its use. Her grandparents lived across the river on the south

side on the old Don Roberts place. Her family lived on the north

side. On Sundays Iren's father would harness a team of horses and

hook them t0 a wagon. The whole family would load up and they

ner, returning by the same route. This undoubtedly saved them time
and several miles versus travel by road.

23 August 1779 Monday continues This river, as is known, empties into
the Mar del Norte and the Bay of Espiritu Santo. It has its own source fifteen
leagues more or less from this place in the Sicrra de Ia Grulla, which is that
on the skirts of which we have traveled since the 17th, it being the one to
the west and closest on this route to the principal villa of this government
under my charge.

‘The Ute nation which is accompanying me, who reside at the said source,
and three civilians who have explored i, tell me that the river above
proceeds from a great swamp, this having been formed, in addition to its
springs, by the continuous melting of snow from some volcanos which are
very close.

The same persons also assure me that after fifteen leagues on the breadth of
the sierra, one sees seven rivers in a very short distance. These united form
in the same way one of considerable size which flows to the west. For this
reason and others which I omit, Ijudge this river to be that which they call
the Rio Colorado, which merging with the Gila emptics into the Gulf of
California. There from the nations who lived on it and with whom I have

my itI have g iled information of the
Ute nation. From this Tinfer that the two are not far distant from each other.

The same settlers mentioned, who explored the seven rivers referred to, by
order of Governor Don Thomas Velez, affirm that on all of them, which are
very fertile, they observed that in ancient times they were well populated
with Indians, this being demonstrated by the large size of the formal pueblos

DN JUAN BAUTISTA de ANZA

1175 TRAIL THROUGN THE SAN LIS VALLEY

® Ron Kessler
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of three storics and other remains. Among these was [evidence] that the
settlers themselves had practiced the art of taking out silver, as their ore
dumps and other remains of their use were found. They assured me, more-
over, they delivered these fragments to the aforesaid governor, who, accord-
ing to other reports, sent them to the city of Mexico.

*Governor Anza's brilliance must be noted at this point as he was
trying to tie in what he had learned on his trips to San Francisco to
he had learned on the present trip.

24 e L Tiuesday Assoon asit was ight we picked up our route in

by land, eight leagues
S upon which
e arrived o the becak of day following st pleasint pood namod San Lk

*After sundown on this day the troops marched twelve miles north
from the Rio Grande crossing, then twenty-four miles to the north-
em. Aftcr leaving the river, they proceeded to the north through

-ountry and arrived at an area with a ridge on the left, and a
Simall Il on the right. They traveied thus to La Garita Crock where

IR

= :ﬂ

b ]

This is how the ancient tail marker would have looked in 1779, Sketch by Franis Kessler

the country is more open. From the present town of La Garita they
traveled o the northeast for twenty-four miles. (Not o the north-

)it ol o e o ity e 2 65 s P
Pass from the present town of Saguache. They had good level coun-
try for traveling since leaving La Jara Creek although in the area of
Saguache there was a pond called San Luis (Sec6, T44N, RSE). In an
interview with Perry Hazard, who is a native of Saguache, he also
confirmed that there was a small pond where the town of Saguache
uilt
arrived in 1870. a-mes ‘was a market hunter.) Another interesting
tis that there is a bench mark in this area named San Luis.

From the beginning of the march we suffered from bitter cold. When as we
ended the journey we promised ourselves relief with fires which we were
about to kindle, we discovered many fires to the east of us, and belicving
them of the enemy, we gave up what we had intended. Later these fires were
found to be from a camp of long standing, but the mistake was not learned
until eight o'clock in the morning.

‘The 1858 ANO Rock in ts original location.
Courtesy Ron Kessler
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At this place on the 10th of July of the present year, a large number of
Comanches attacked a greater force of Utes who were camped there with
their families. Although the former succeeded in darkness of the night in
capturing all the Ute horses, the latter recovered them, with the added ad-
vantage of ‘Their bodies
with other evidence proved the fact; besides, the very victors themselves
pointed it out for us.

e of
called Rattlesnake Hill. Anza and his men spent the day S
Utes and were probably gratefu! for their company as well as the
news of the Comanches' defeat the previous July. This camp was
centered around a spring identified on the Haden survey maps of
1874 and 1875 as Hunt Spring (Sec3, T44N, RSE). This campsight is
reknowned for the Indian artifacts that have been found by local
people.

25 August 1779 Wednesday At nightfall we began our march, route to the
north for one league, at the end of which we inclined for another two to the
north. After three more we made to the northwest, we reached an arroyo
which was named Santa Xines.

*On this night the men marched north nine miles and then to the

The Old Spanish Trail
Courtesy Ron Kessler
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northeast another nine miles. Their camp was in the area of Villa
Grove. (Secl5, T46N, R9E) This route follows closely Highway 285.

26Aug-m 1779 Tlmrniay Atfour o cmk in the afternoon we continued

hich we halted m p,g the might and wait the folowlog d day in rmkr o
cross the bad land which follows. This place was named El Aguage de
Yutas.

Since the swamp of San Luis was left, up to the above named water hole, the
sierras that we have had to the right and left of us (between which runs the
Rio del
s o the northwest, their end being unknown.

*At four in the afternoon on this day, the troops left the San Luis Val-
ley over Poncha Pass, having traversed it in five days. This pass is
Al

twelve miles of ascent, they made camp at Ute Spring (Sec9,
T48N, R8E) and thus ended their night travel. Ute Spring was a favor-

idSpanish Trall
Wa

/agon R
Cnunt.\y Sally Crum,
i, Colorado




ite watering hole and camp for the Utes. The spring is stillin evi-
dence today and can be seen traveling over Ponc}

27 August 1779 Friday At seven we forced our way through a very nar-
row canyon with almost inaccessible sides, and considerable water, the first
Iha( runs gencrally to the nonhem and which is the only one that divides

21

made. These over we paused in a good arroyo, as much to refresh the
ndmg beasts as to give time to all people of the expedition to prepare and
dress the meat of fifty head of buffalo they had succeeded in killing in less
than ten minutes from the great number which broke in on our march.

wurk to conquer. This accempmmu afer travling five l:dg\l:& we came
out at the union of this stream of water with a good sized river, which was
named San Agustin. There the day's journcy ended.

*Governor Anza commented that "It being very rarely crossed" in

Upon scrutiny, those fificen miles t the San Agustin River (aow
called the South Arkansas River) were surely difficult. The immen.
sityofachsens company must have made it even more so.

28 August 1779 Saturday Just before seven o'clock we set out on the road
toward the northeast, and after a little more than a league we crossed to the
Rio de Napestle which comes from the northwest. It has its risc in the sierra
‘which as already said runs in this direction. After finishing another league
‘we began to cross another mediumsized sierra, which occupied two more
leagues. Upon these four more were made to the east through some ranges
of hills, where from two in the afternoon until seven we rested the horses.

After this, con march in the last

‘were traveled until we arrived at some hills which were named Las Perdidas,
because of the trouble we had from the snow and fog which beset us before
nightfall.

“This was a day of better travling with the terrain uch improved

over the previous day's. His diary states that they traveled to the

northeast of the town of Salida, then to the cast. Here is what ap-
by T

pears : y
have take

“Only twelve miles had been marched when de Anza's men found
herd of buffalo.

have been great, indeed, after dry and probably unsavory rations,

meat musthave been very welcome. Although it s notcer:
tain,
named! Another clghvzcn e before mngu wm.
the traveling good. Their night camp was pn)hahly at Florissant.
Highway 24 follows closely the routc taken by de

Alittle before twelve, the scouts mcmmned on the 26th rcjoined us, havmg
orthy of mention.

at once with orders to meet me on the 315t if nothing of importance oc:

curred before then.

After these scouts had been sent out at the time spoken of, we again took up
our route at six in the afternoon to the eastsoutheast. Along it six leagues
were made through good countey, with many smallsrcams. ‘e day' our-
ney terminated, the night now being well advanced, at the foot of a
‘which was called Los Ojos Cicgos.

30 August 1779 Monday At a litle before seven we began to force our
way over Sierra Almagre, which is very rough with its ravines and thick
woods, After cight while
we were sill within the same sierra, halt was made on a river which fiscs in
it, which I called Santa Rosa, to spend the night and await the reports of the
spies who should come in tomorrow.

Since from the hcxghls of this place the regions usually inhabited by the

and south of Pikes Peak. Iwould chzlkngc anyone who bellcv:s in
this rely it
could not have been done with 2400 head. I believe that men- trail
must have paralleled the Arkansas River to the north, to the area of
Johnson Village where they crossed the river. Their route followed
Highway 285 then on 24, Floyd
i wnns (Bus), longtime Southpark rancher, helped me to confirm

29 August 1779 Sunday At c.yn nclock the weather still bad, we :urg:d
ahead to the east.

ied, I had placed lookouts on three eminences to note
‘what might happm B following day.

*Governor Anza took extra precautions to be on watch for the
Comanches because the troops were in enemy territory and could
be seen at any time. Twenty-four miles were marched in climbing
over the front range, with Highway 24 mimicking their route over
Ute Pass.

1tis strange that de Anzas diary does not mention 'El o.pn.... the
Spanish Peak. This great
mark in their travels.
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31 August 1779 Tuesday At halfpast ten one of the aforesaid scouts re-

ported that dust were
1 be seen three leagues distant, and that in the same direction two [per-
sons] apparently were traveling in search of us. For this reason I ordered
that our entire train should be ready to march if necessary.

Afer cleven aclock two of the scouts prevously mentioned arrived, having
1 with the nu

it

ofe e
half from on watch. T beca
site was still hidden and was nearcr those whom he was observing and who

‘might come upon his trail, because he had been at dawn that morn-
ing at the very spot where they halted.

With this news 1 resaived @ move to the spot metloned as 3 more stable
place. The train of the horseherd ; Tleft
guarded by o et mbey T s S e o e judged
necessary, that is to follow me, watching in case of attack, thus not to be
unadvised of my whereabouts,

Arrived at this place, the corporal of the scouts informed me that in his

opinion, we were discovered by his tracks because a little while after the

enemy had halted and set up only six tents, four of the Indians came along.

the trail that he had made until they were very near the place where he was,

and that 'ho came went back, alittle to recon-
r kv =

and they is
horses. Accordingly, he judged the enemy proposed to flee.

Convinced by all that has been said that this would happen and that perhaps

they cbscrved evceything sbout us, Licsolred to ttack withioue deley. This
ight, left

of the nature of the plain in which the savages were,

25

It was necessary to take more than thirty women and children, the latter
running to where their fathers were. Thirty-four of these were captured,
besides all the horse herd, more than five hundred head. This was nearer the
Iast thing done, after the h id run no further.

the mounts of the Indians fleeing. They lost all of their goods and baggage;
even the most necessary articles they abandoned where they had begun to
‘make their camp. There was so much of this material that it could not be
loaded on a hundred h ‘The spoil ou dividing it equally.
In this matter we had not the least unpleasantness

It is impossible accurately to state the number of the encmy with whom we.

fought because the men were clothed as their women with whom they fled

and veiled in the dust of the horseherd they sought to save. It is impossible
to count them, especially when the slaughter began, for the reason that they
scattered widely. Accordingly, there is no way to calculate other than by the
number of tents they prepared to raise, and which, as already said, were
‘more than one hundred and twenty. It is well known that in each tent six to
eight fighting men live.

At half.past four I returned to the watering place and pasture where the de-
feated enemy had been encamped. To this place the name of Rio del Sacra-
mento was given, this expedition having been dedicated to this most Holy
Mysery. Notwithstanding that from the time when the frst prisoners were

i could strike another blow, I drew nothing certain from them until nine
o'clock at night when the last two informed me that their chief or captain-
general, Cuerno Verde, having gone with four of his principal captains and
‘many of his people on a campaign to our country, had ordered them all to
gather at this place to receive him and celebrate the triumph that he flat-
tered himself he would secure; that it had been about sixtcen days since he
had marched away, and that for this purpose for two days a great number of

10 put them off from the retreat from our front over the same terrain by
which they had come. At twelve o'clock more than a half a league away from
their camp, it was inevitable that they should discover us. They had already
caught all their horses, the mounts as well as the spare ones, but withal they
did not sally forth as customarily to meet the troop, whom they observed
drawn up in a form they had never before seen. Conscquently, all being

mount
notwithstanding that the number of familics cqualled more than one hun-
dred and twenty tents, whose wooden frames only had hccn setup. Disre-
ree leagues we.
began to overtake the men, who faced us. The fight with e
another league, during which we succeeded in killing eighteen of the most
valiant and in wounding many.

Y
those escaped from us had gone.

they would have news of us byesy o much in advance, I determined, alrhough
the time of Cuerno Verde, to
see if fortune would geant me an encounter with him. 1 proposed to seck
this by whatever means were possible, as much because his punishment
‘would be quick and opportune, s in order to restore the prisoners that he
‘might be bringing from our country in case he had succeeded in striking a
blow. The night of this day was passed with the greatest precautions; and
nothing happened worthy of mention.




*After descending from the front range near Colorado Springs, the
troo south, close to the route of I-25 today which parallels
the Fountain River. Before midday a scout reported seeing the en-
emy and de Anza led 600 of his men into battle, which left 200 men
t0 guard the horseherd and baggage. The helter-skelter war with the
Comanche people covered approximately twelve miles. Eightcen
valiant Comanches were killed, many were wounded and an addi-
tional thirty women and thirty-four children were taken prisoncr.
The Indians who escaped were thought to have gone in search of
Cuerno Verde to warn him of the troops' presence.

The captives were all questioned about their leader, Cuerno Verde.
Thel o his way
10 the camp that the Comanches had used when discovered by de
Anza.. Cuerno Verde had planned a victory party to celebrate his
latest raids on the Spanish settlements.

The Comanche camp was near Wigwam, Colorado, which is east of I
25 between Colorado Springs and Pueblo. Governor Anza's diary
does not say how many miles were traveled on this day.

1 September 1779 Wednesday In prosccution of my intention at seven
o'clock in the morning having set out to discover the trail sought, I came
upon it at ten o'clock, and having ordered that the advance scouts should
always travel (o the right and left of it, by day as well as by night, I pressed

27

had hid our horscherd and train, and the entire troop, which I placed where
it seemed to me most advantageous for surprising the rebels who in a quite
large fc lthe i irti

wooded

T had not time to examine.

3 heavily
nus wasa -y which

At sunset the barbarians reached the valley, and we were forced to attack
them with the column under my command, which it scems they were cx-
pecting. However, noting the other two columns about united to surround
them, they gave themselves up to a blind and headlong flight. Although
cight were killed and a considerable number wounded, not many perished
as we had the misfortune to waste considerable time in crossing one by one
the bottom of a boggy gully which the valley hid. Our advance was more
than half  league on the other side. During that time they scattered com-
pletely. Because night was falling they had been able to escape as much
because of this as well as from the previously mentioned loss [of time on our
part]. If they had held firm on the side of the gully opposite us, then we
might not have been able to cross if they had succeeded in defending it un.
der cover of its woods. From this I infer that they had no knowledge of the
gully or that because of the surprise did not think of doing so.

At halfpast eight at night I withdrew to this gully which I crossed again with
great trouble in the darkness to the place ordered for our horseherd and
baggage to pass the rest of the night

ahead. After seven le ]
4 stop the end of the same Sacramento River because many of the settlers
horses were jade

*On this day travel was approached with caution so that the trail
‘which Cuerno Verde would use was not marked by the troops' horses.
Twenty-one miles were d to the east-southeast which paral-
leled the same Fountain River that de Anza referred 0 as the Sacra-
mento River. Some of the horses were in much need of rest, particu-
larly after the previous day's skirmish.

2 September 1779 Thursday A little before seven we forged ahead to the

south, and after traveling three leagues recrossed the Rio de Napestle where
Th

we found

After this, without giving any notice, most of the Ute nation left for their
country. Along the same route five more leagues were made. At the end of
these in a rocky arroyo we rested the horses until four in the afternoon. At
this again took up our route, and one of the advance
scouts returned with the information that the enemies approaching were
unaware of us. So that they should not discover us at a great distance away, I

Those acq with th the mode of war usually practiced in
it advised me to abandon the spot, as they had always done 50, warning me
that those recently routed could retaliate in the darkness of the night, espe-
cially if they in uniting. i i

the knowledge that I have of other Indians, as well as this proposal might
have something of cowardice in it, I replied that the very thing that they
fearcd I desired; that they should understand that even in case the encounter
'had not decided so much in our favor, we ought for the honor of our arms to
‘wait on the spot until dawn of the following day, and that until then, it was
proper that we should remain under arms. This was done. We passed the
night in great inconvenience because of rain and severe cold which pre.
vailed during the greater part of it, but without any other disturbance what-
ever.

‘Headed south, nine miles were marched by Anza and his troops to
the Arkansas River where some of the enemy horses were caught,
Most of the Ute Indians who had accompanied de Anza left at this
point without farewell. This was likely in the area of the present
town of Pueblo which is on 1-25. Another cighteen miles were coy-
ered before evening. Anza traveled along a portion of the historic
Taos Trail, which skirted the southeastern edge of the Greenhorn
Mountains.



k to report that they
he scouts who always ranged ahead came bac

e scomthe encimy. With the horseherd hidden, the troops also hid
in order to surprise the Comanches. There was only a gully,
unexamined by de Anza, between the troops and the scatteres
e Daylight Cuerno Verde and
his warriors apparently expected the Spanish attack but ran from
the fight when they saw de Anza's tactics to have his units surround
them so only eight Indians were killed and a number wounded.
Cuerno Verde and many of his warriors escaped in the darkness.

The gully had slowed de Anza's charge because of ts boggy bottom.
And

tood his ground
de might retaliate during the night, de Anza st

N ne ﬁre not attacked. Anza surely was anxious for the coming
day so that he might again have a chance to confront Cuerno Verde.

is had the immediate
tember 1779 Friday Accordingly at daylight I n
At i Nothing of any ce having been
found, 1 ordered the whole troop to prepare to march. This was begun at
seven o'clock.

I N

Courtesy Ron Kessler

At the beginning of our march a few of the enemy showed themselves, ap-
parently wishing to cross the region that we were leaving through the very
place which we had opencd a road over the gully spoken of above. These
few were joincd by a great number. Accordingly, lest something untoward
should happen, I remained with the first and second column on the rear and
ordered the third and reserve corps, as vanguard, and that all should con-
tinue the march. For this purpose I required that the first two columns
should hold some fair-sized woods on our right and left through which we
had to pass for a distance of half a leaguc.

At the wood the enemy had already increased to more than forty, and they
drew almost within gunshot, firing off their own muskets. In this way was
recognized from his insignia and devices the famous chicf Cuerno Verde,
‘who, his spirit proud and superior to all his followers, left them and came
ahead, his iritedly. Accordingly,

life and his pride and arrogance precipitated him to this end.

have his

Tox * .
concealed their formation to join battle with two hundred lightly burdened
men, that the cavalry and loaded animals with their guards should aid the
vanguard for the purpose of forcing the enemy against this body if I suc-
ceeded in enclosing them as I planned with a half circle I was considering

Plaque in Greenhorn Park to com-
memorate the victory of Juan
wtista de Anza over Cuerno Verde.
Courtesy

Ron Kessler
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forming with the columns of the rear guard, and in order that the rear guard
need not remain on watch over the horseherd and train while it was precipi-

ng ws should perish there
those most important to s, that i, the party. \mmediately behind the leader
of the barbarians, cut off from their right and left flank.

In order to execute both purposes and to fatigue as much as possible the
iftness he placed his .

in
ing and escaping, I withdrew swiftly apart from our Indian auxiliaries as
though in retreat, but when my first plan was about to take effect the princi-
pal chieftain understood it and ordered all his men to retire. In view of this
1 proceeded to my second purpose and succeeded at once in cutting off
from the arger body Cuerno Verde with his leaing followers and they el
into the prang t

the ground and Coalnin et el
fense as brave as it was glorious. Notwithstanding, the aforesaid Cuerno
Verde perished, with his firstborn son, the heir to his command, four of his
most famous captains, a medicine man who preached that he was immortal,
and ten more who were able to get in the place indicated.

A larger number might have been killed, but I preferred the death of this
chief even to more of those who escaped, because of his being constantly in
this region the cruel scourge of this kingdom, and because he had extermi-
nated many pueblos, killing hundreds and making as many prisoners whom
he aferwards sacrificed in cold biood. His own nation accused him, ever

a hatred of whom because his father, who
also held the same command and power, met death at our hands.

I mfer that his death was caused by his own intrepidity and the contempt
nm they have always obiained over us because of the irregularities with
which they have always warred. He feared for the main body of his people
‘This defeat had not

to him for a musket lost in the battle by our Indian auxiliaries was in his
possession, and withal, he had the temerity with fifty men of his daily and
personal guard, to attack six hundred men in good formation. From this
should be deduced the arrogance, presumption and pride which character.
ized this barbarian, and which he manifested until the last moment in
various ways, disdaining even to load his own musket, which was done for
him three times by another, while in the interval he was in danger.

All of our th:

but I belicve that their regret will not exceed the pleasure our people have
had in it. Among our force we had no greater disaster than a slight bullet
wound received by a light-horse soldier. From some of the dead were taken
five muskets, today an article which is plentiful among these heathen.

Although 1 tarried in this place which was named Los Dolores de Maria
Santissima, until halfpast ten to observe if there be any return of the barbar-
ians, nothing was seen but the dust and smoke of their retreat which was

made out for a distance of twelve leagues. From this it is inferred that those
are the same who were defeated on the previous afternoon.

At the hour mentioned, after much cheering by our people in the name of
S Alies

In this direction through good country, five leagues were made until we
reached the first stream and arroyo of La Sangre de Cristo where passed the
night.

*Governor Anza was surely not disappointed in that Cuerno Verde
and his men did not try to escape in the cover of darkness. In the
course of the day's battle, the hostile Indians were drawn into the
boggy ground of the little valley. Somewhere near the eastern base.
of Greenhorn Mountain itself, the Spaniards managed to cut off
Cuerno Verde and a score of his clmsl followers from the main

Verde put vp his st ight and e i.long ‘with his own son and fif-

others. His arrogance and false sense of immortality surely
ot il it Myt e d) o N ot it
Anza must

Cuerno Verde! No deaths were suffered by the troops, and only one
man was wounded.

To follow de Anza's route md.-y, one would stay west of I- 25 from
erde

y
inhis diary. risto t
wllich he refers. He could not help but have crossed it on his way

the Sangre de Cristo range, at which point Road 69 would
B =

4 September 1779 Saturday Alittlc before seven we continued our route

along the same direction, and from the first e began to recross the sierra

that we had on our right in going. It was extremely fatiguing from its con-
iolent wind

and fog. At toits foot, after eight lea

of travel to the place of the Ciéncga.

*On this day, twenty-four miles are traveled to the south crossing.
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Sangre de Cristo pass. The ciénega which he mentions must be in
the area just to the east of present day Fort Garland which they
reached by night fall. From this point to the village of Santa Fe they
traveled on what later became known as the east form of the north
branch of the Old Spanish Trail.

5 September 1779 Sunday At halfpast seven we again set out on our
march on the said try, during which we progr

ten leagues in the whole day. At the end of this, we arrived at the Rio de I
Culebra and the day's journey was ended.

Because on ng this place horses killed by

whom we had met on the third, and other signs of treatment of wounds, I
I ¢ camined with great care. This resuied fn tic discorery ofa grave n
which bodies [seven]

perished in the attack which we suppose they made on the pueblo of Taos,
‘whence it appears the trail comes.

On this same day, before twelve o'clock, that part of the Ute nation which
had remained, left for their country enriched and satisfied, and without fare-
‘wells, for their barbarity and desire again to see their country did not admit
this civility.

“The troops covered thirty miles on their journey to the south. At
their camp on the Culebra River, near present day San Pablo, they
found seven dead horses and a grave that contained the bodies of
seven Comanche warriors. Governor Anza felt certain that this had
been Cuerno Verde's camp. And since there was also evidence of
wounds having been cared for here, it was apparent that the
Comanches had not fared well against the Spanish Settlement.

The remainder of the Indian people who had joined the expedition
‘on the Rio de Los Pino on the 20th of August left for their homes on
this day.

To follow de Anza's route back into New Mexico, follow Road 159 to
San Luis, east to San Pablo, then take Road 21 (between the Sangre de
Cristo Mountains and San Pedro Mcsa) to Costilla. At Costilla travel
0 Road 522 to Taos.

6 September 1779 Monday At seven o'clock we continued our route with
destination for the publo of Taos to obtain information of what had hap-

ned there. We traveled to the south and after making ten leagues during
the entire day, the journey came to an end at the Rio del Datil

“Upon the Culebra River,
i camped on the Rio Datil. rhu ‘must have been in
the vicinity of the present day town of Cost

7 September 1779 Tuesday A little before seven we proceeded and after
concluding three leagues, forded the Rio Colorado. Up to this we had had
g0od country. From here we began to skirt the sierra which we had on our
left.Along this route and with its many difficultics, another five leagues
were at four o'clock i the pueblo
o Tooe: Ticie i s o e Al o o s kingdom.

Before reaching the pueblo, its alcalde, with whom I had communicated in
advance my coming in order to not to cause him surprise, came out to meet
me. He informed me that having been notified by our Apache friends six
days before they attacked the pucblo under his command, which occurred
on the 31st of the last month, that many enemies were coming, he prepared

in case the attack should turn in another direction. In consequence of this,
he placed scouts on the usual roads of the barbarians. In this way it was
possible on the night of the 30th for the scouts to signal him with fires that
the enemy was marching on the pueblo which he then put under arms. They
found it 50 on the day mentioned.

‘The first attack of the enemy, made at twilight, he assured me was vigorous,
but as soon as they recognized the new state of defense which the place has
because it is one of those I had made into a square with triangular fortifica-
tion on the corners, their surprise was 5o great that he was able to fire on
them sallying forth from the wall, [tactics] which from [within] they could
Dot atempt, nor attack the enemy. With this foray he succeeded in killing
three, wounding many and frightening off all whom he judged to number
two hundred and fifty. They then took the pnld:m part of munng 0 much
greater distance,
nine in the morning when their retreat began, preceded by 2 great havoc
which they wrought in the cornfields.

“The only i i , although

inside at the time of the attack, went out unknown to the alcalde to see if he
could save a horse which he saw in a cornfield, judging it to be his own. He
found that it belonged to the enemy who killed him.

‘The enemy's loss, from what the alcalde states from what is related on the
Gth, amounts to ten deaths in this attack alone, a disaster which in the many
attacks they is is attril

fact that as all its inhabitants were not needed as before to defend the seven




E

comers and as many other salient or rxpesed parts it had. They employed
selve: out purpos

P Seventy varas from the new wall.

*Twenty-four miles were marched on this day, with Taos being

reached by 4:00 p.m. How relieved they all must have been o get

'had much to discuss. The . tification and tactics (hzl de Anza had
required 11. The C¢ hes had done
‘what they could to ruin the settlers’ cornfields but the only loss of
life was the death of a young man, caused by his disobeying orders
to stay within the fortification. The Comanche losses were three
dead and many wounded. It is likely that seven of those wounded
were among the dead found at the Culebra River.

9 d our march
along the Camino Real o Santa F r: ‘which in general runs toward the south.
After ten leagues were made on it we arrived at the pueblo of Embudo.

“Back on the deA d hi irty mile:
to reach the puchlo of Embudo.

9 September 1779 Thursday At half.past seven we again set out over the
above mentioned route and direction. On this nine leagues were traveled
‘The march ended at the Pueblo of Pujuaque.

“On this day twenty-seven miles are traveled to reach the pueblo of
Pojoaque.

10 September 1779 Friday Atseven o'clock we continued our way by the
aforesaid direction and course, and then after six leagues arrived at the villa
of Santa Fe. There I received information communicated by the Ute nation
from those who, s recorded, lef uson the 2nd at the Rio de Napesde, that
they had the good fortune to surpr hou

their families, the latter being nine, women and children, who perished at
their hands with the men, with the exception of one child who surrendered
alive to them. At the same time they seized forty saddle horses the barbar.
ians had with the rest of the articles of their use and service.

With this loss, those which have been referred to, which the Comanches
suffered on the 31st, 2nd, and 3rd, with that which is stated at the pueblo of
“Taos amount to fifty-eight men and sixty-three women and children, making
2 total of one hundred and thirty-one persons. With this information, and
the statement that the sum of leagues amounted to two hundred and five
covered on this expedition, ends the diary which it relates.

*Governor Anza and his troops reached Santa Fe after marching the
last few miles. There de Anza learned that the Ute people, who left

inkilling hes. Thi

133 Comanche people ‘who had beea killed or taken prisoner in the
course of the twenty-six day expedition. The distance traveled in
that span of time was 615 miles.

To retrace the trail of s, stay
Emb

Ta
udo, then take Highway 63 to Pojoadue. From Pojoaque, 1ake
Highway 285 back to Santa Fe.

In reviewing this incredible undertaking, we see that de Anza's ac-

complishments show his military genius. He had managed to suc-
ceed where others had failed and he did so brilliantly.

JUAN BAUTISTA de ANZA
SEPTEMBER 10, 1779

Gunnison Lomry Library
307 N. Wisci
Guanis, 0O 1230




GLOSSARY

Alcalde - Ruler or Mayor
Aflo - Year

Arroyo de La Sangre de Cristo - Arroyo of Blood of Christ
Camino Real - Main Road

El Aguage de Los Yutas - Ute watering hole
El Paso de San Bartolome - San Bartolome passage or crossing
Embudo - Hollow or Funnel
La Ciénega de San Luis - The village of San Luis
La Ciénega - Village o Settlement
Las Lomas Perdidas - The Lost Hills
League - Three miles (by Anza standards)
Los Dolores de Maria Santissima - The Agonies of the Blessed Mary
Los Ojos Ciegos - The Blind Eyes
0Ojo Caliente - Hot Spring
Presidio - Fortress
Rio de La Culebra - River of the Snake
Rio de Las Nutrias - River of the Beaver
Rio de Las Timbres - Timber River (Alamosa River)
Rio de Las Xaras - River of the Willows
Rio de Los Gonejos - River of the Rabbits
Rio de Napestle - Napestle River (present day Arkansas River)
Rio de Sacremento - Sacrament River
Rio de Antonio - San Antonio River
Rio de San Agustin - Saint Agustin River
Rio de San Lorenzo - Lawrence River (Piedra or Rock Creek)
Rio de Santa Rosa - Saint Rosa River
Rio del Datil - Date (or fruit of date palm) River
Rio del Norte - North River
Rio del Pino - Pine River
San Juan de Los Caballeros - Saint John of the Horseman
Santa Xines - Saint Xines
Sierra Almagre - Hardship Mountains
Sterra de La Grulla - Mountains of the Crane
Vara - A yard in distance
Translation is compliments of Willic Maestas, Monte Vista, Colorado
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PLAT MAPS
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3N 9E Plaza de Guadalupe
34N 9E Del Norte Conejos Road
35N 8E Old La Jara
35N 9E Del Norte-Conejos Road
36N 8E Del Norte Conejos Road
37N 7E Grecnie Mountain
38N 7E Lucero
39N GE San JoseJohn's Creek
39N 7E Lucero Plaza
QON GE Del Norte-Conejos Roa
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42N 7E

Dol NorteSags -Saguache Road

43N 7E Russell Springs
45N 7E Old California Road
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US. Geographical Survey West of the 100th Meridian Economical Features
of Parts of Southern Colorado & Northern New Mexico Atlas Sheet
No.69(B) Expediions of 18741875 & 1877 Under the Commznd of: 1st
Lieutenant George M. Wheeler, Corp. of Engineers

Nell's Topory:p)uczl o Townshipy Map of he Stte of Colorado, (Washing-
ton,

san Iszbcl Nationat Forest Service Map. United States Department of Agricul-

ure, 1972. Forest Supervisor's Office, 1920 Valley Drive Pueblo, Colo-
T2 81006, (719) 5458737

Rio Grande National Forest Service Map. Compiled in the Regional Office

olorado, in 1974 from U.S. Forest Service, and U.S. Geological

les
ramm Nacional Forest Service Map. United States Department of Agricul
ure, 1991. Forest Supervisor's Office, Carson National Forest, Forest
e Building, P.O. Box: 538, 208 Cruz Alta Road, Taos, New Mexico
(505) 7
Pike Natioral Forea Service M lap. United States Department of Agriculture,
1992, Forest Supervisors Office, 1920 Valicy Drive, Puchlo, Colorado
Colorado Atlas & Gazetter Delorme Mapping), PO. Box 298, Freepor,
Maine 04032. (207) 865417
The Roads of New Mezico, 1990, Shearer Pnhlxshmg‘ 406 Post Oak Road,
ricksburg, Texas 78624. (512) 997652
San Luis Valley Historlan, VoL V1. No. 1, Page 80. it Settlements

AIRPLANE RIDES TO
PHOTOGRAPH AND CHECK ROUTE

January 27, 1992 Rio Grande to New Mexico State line 800 ft. altitude
November 27, 1992 Rio Grande to New Mexico State line 800 ft. altitude

The airplane trlpr t lower elevation were made possible by pilo
Ron Taylor, from Monte Vista, Colorado. e

INTERVIEWS

Irene Slade, Del Norte, Colorado,
Patricia Joy Richmond, Historian, cmonz Colorado, January 17, 1993
Ruth Marie Colville, Historian, Del Norte, Colonda January 17, 1993

Hazard, Sagua
Fl")’d J. Willis, longtime rancher in Southpark area, September 5, 1993
il Carson, Freelance Writer, Pucblo, Colorado, October 4, 1993
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